Lucerne, British Columbia

1913 – 1924

Notes from a Slide Show by the Late Alexander Torrence Gray, Locomotive Foreman.

Lucerne, BC, located 23 miles west of Jasper on the Albreda Sub, was established as a Terminal on the Canadian Northern Railway in 1913 and then abandoned in 1924 when the towns of Jasper and Lucerne were amalgamated.  At that time one half of the employees were transferred to Jasper, the others went west to Blue River.

The townsite revisited in 1950 showed little evidence of its existence; a bit of the coal dock, the wooden stairway lay in zig zag fashion up the hill leading to the Locomotive Foreman’s dwelling that leaned in forlorn abandon.  Like the standing stones of the old lands, the cement foundations for the locomotive turntable gave evidence that the age of steam transportation had paused there for a brief few years.

Car Department:

Alex (Sandy) Gray, originally from Scotland, moved from Winnipeg Nov 1915 to Lucerne, BC.  The construction was finished and it was operation takeover.  A boxcar filled with furniture, stove, groceries, etc was positioned in Lucerne as the family’s home.  Mr. Gray’s family arrived on the passenger train soon after with their two sons and daughter (soon to be two daughters) and settled into their new home.  Other residents included Mr. Harry Keith, wife and two sons; Mr. Dave Barrett (Craneman) and wife; Mr. Joe Mableson (Craneman); Mr. H. Durkin, his wife and three children; Mr. Dave Mann, wife and two children; Mr. William McKeown and Mr. Matt Jackson and wife.

Heal & Glover General Store:

Picture was taken in 1916.  Check it out in the forum.  From left, W. Aynsley (Provincial Police), Geo Heal (Proprietor), clerk in the offer of Philan and Shirley Construction Co., (Happy) nickname of the cook, Alex T. Gray Jr., Matt Jackson, Earl Perkins, Geo Freeman (1915-16 policeman).  Also check out the main street of Lucerne, circa 1920.

From 1918 – 1924, the General Store was owned by the Frank Seager family, wife and two sons.  Geo Heal left Lucerne in 1916 and was married in the Okanagan.  Howard Glover, part owner of Heal and Glover Store, left to join the army in 1916.  Another General Store owner was L.M. Gowdy and wife.

Lucerne, BC:

Construction was done by Philan and Shirley Rly. Construction Co., U.S.A. from 1913 o 1915 with Mr. Earl Perkins as Manager, one office clerk and a cook named Happy.  The company returned to the U.S.A. in 1916.

The Grand Trunk Pacific Railway station was situated across the Yellowhead Lake from Lucerne.  Mr. McIllroy, a trapper, had his cabin nearby.  A bridge of logs was built by Mr. Axel Johnson and paid for by the BC Government, providing access between the two communities.

A school was started in the spring of 1916 and completed by September.  A teacher from Vancouver was then hired and stayed until 1917.  In September 1917, Mrs. Thame took over the duties as teacher.  Mr. Thame was the BC Provincial Police Officer.

In 1916, the Assistant Government Agent from Prince George, Mr. John Aitken, came to enumerate the village.  There was a poolroom with barbershop and community hall.  There was also a rooming house owned by Red Dewar.  He also had the only horse and wagon in town.  There was no tax levied on boxcar homes – a nice break for the Gray family.

The trappers in the district were McIllory, Belinski, and Black.

The doctors were Dr. Sam Petersky with wife and sister (1916 to 1919) and Dr. O’Hagen and wife, son and daughter from 1919 to 1924.  Dr. O’Hagen and his family later moved to Jasper.  Dr. O’Hagen stood up for John Lewis when he married Alex (Sandy) Gray’s daughter, Janette.

Machinists in the Roundhouse were James R. Walker, Geo F. Steaves, Jack Small who later changed his name to McNeill and became Locomotive Foreman in Kamloops, Jim Engles, Alex T. Gray (1923) and Andy Gunning (1923).  Machinist Helpers were Curley Dobson, Lee Bowser and J. M. McKenzie.

Railway Boilermakers were William Gibson and Andy Wilson; Carpenters, Frank McDonald; Blacksmith Mr. Hill and Helper L. Lavery; Classified Labourers, Lihan, Kemp (caretaker of bunkhouse).

Conductors were Fred Boston, Barny Reynolds, Jack Cameron, Cal Cameron, Lou M. Gowdy, Squarebriggs brothers, Dan Leddy Art Mainprize Sr., Alex Norquay, Joe Finnigan.  From Nov 12th, 1922 the Conductors were given numbers:  67 A. Russell Blais, 73 D.J.G. McLellan, 77 T.A. Mainprize, 105 A. Griffiths, 206 A.L. Stewart

208 W. Johnson, 211 C.R. Johnson, 215 E.N. Johnson, 216 A.H. Gillet, 228 J.A. Mainprize.

Engineers were Fred Ball, Steve Higginbottom, Chas Gotshall, Gibbs, S Johnson, Green, Nels A. Bolli, W. Rockford, Frank Weaver, Sam Sliter A. Smythe, C Wonnecott, Sproule.  Engineers and Firemen were Pete Sorenson, Vern Speare, P. Messenger, Sam Fellows, Vic Ryley, O. Kramer, Plumkett, Robbins, Walpole (killed in Albreda sub due to collapse of bridge), Joe Taverno, C. Mortinson, O. Jacobson, Bob Harrison, Jeff Porter.

Other employees were: Stores & Supplies & Timekeeper Tom Walker and Assistant ‘Pop’ Morris; Lineman F.R. Wellnourne, Freight Agent Sidney Shaw, Agent Norman Fraser, Telegraphers P. Dobie and A. Baird, Roadmaster Engleson, Sectionmen Mike Abramson and Bill Rosmo and two others, Locomotive Foreman Thomas Young,  Assistant Jack Cathcart, Car Foreman, Alex (Sandy) Gray.

The Roundhouse:

There were five stalls – a shed for rotary snow plough, machine shop, etc, a 75’ turntable (manually operated), a 110 volt D.C. Dynamo to operate roundhouse lights, etc and lights for Engineers bunkhouse only.  Coal oil lights were in remainder.

The Station Restaurant:

The station restaurant operated from 1915 to 1924 by Chas. Porter and John Kaufman.  They left for Blue River in 1924 when the railway moved to Jasper.

Children Born in Lucerne:

The following children were born in Lucerne between 1916 and 1924:  Lloyd Bolli (pilot in 2nd world war now residing in Victoria, BC), Charlie Wilson (Army), Bruce Harrison (pilot RCAF Killed in Action), Jack Ryler (pilot RCAF), Allan Squarebriggs, Ivy Wilson, Doreen Jacobson, Betty Jacobson.  Although Janette Gray was born in 1917 during the time her family was living in Lucerne, her Mother, Elizabeth Gray actually traveled to Vancouver to give birth to baby Janette.

